INTHE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF KANSAS

United States of America,
Plaintiff/Defendant,
V. Case No. 03-20024-JWL
05-3045-JWL

ReneHerrera, Jr.,

Defendant/M ovant.

MEMORANDUM & ORDER

Rene Herrera, . was named in a two-count indiciment filed on February 27, 2003. The
indictment charged Mr. Herrera with conspiracy to distribute methamphetamine (Count 1) and
digtribution of methamphetamine (Count 2). On August 18, 2003, Mr. Herrera entered a plea of
guilty to Count 1 of the indictment. In the plea agreement executed by Mr. Herrera, he waived his
right to appea the sentence imposed or to chdlenge it through collateral attack. On November
3, 2003, Mr. Herrera was sentenced to a 168-month term of imprisonment. The judgment of
conviction was entered on the docket on November 6, 2003. Mr. Herrera did not appedl.

On February 1, 2005, Mr. Herrera filed a motion to vacate, set asde or correct his sentence
pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 8§ 2255 (doc. 35) in which he asks this court to vacate his sentence in light
of the Supreme Court’s decision in United States v. Booker, 125 S. Ct. 738 (2005). In response,
the government filed a motion to enforce Mr. Herrera's plea agreement and waiver of rights (doc.
39) and requested an extension of time to respond to Mr. Herrera's § 2255 motion until 21 days

after the court rules on the motion to enforce the plea agreement, with the idea that the court




would not need to address Mr. Herrera's 8 2255 mation if the court granted the government’s
motion to enforce the plea agreement. The court granted the government’s motion for an
extenson of time established a briefing scheduling regarding the motion to enforce, and deferred
brifing on Mr. Hereras § 2255 motion urtil after the court issued a ruling on the motion to
enforce the plea agreement. As set forth in more detall below, the court now grants the

government’ s motion to enforce the plea agreement and denies Mr. Herrera' s § 2255 moation.

Mr. Herrera Waived hisRight to Challenge his Sentence

In response to Mr. Herrera's motion to vacate, set aside or correct his sentence, the
government, through its motion to enforce, asserts that Mr. Herrera expresdy waived his right to
chdlenge his sentence through collateral attack in the plea agreement that he executed. Mr.
Herrera, in turn, asserts that the plea agreement and waiver of rights should not be enforced
because he received ineffective assstance of counsel in connection with the plea agreement and
he received a sentence that was above the statutory maximum.

The court will hold a defendant and the government to the terms of a lawful plea agreement.
United States v. Arevalo-Jimenez, 372 F.3d 1204, 1207 (10th Cir. 2004); United Sates v.
Atterberry, 144 F.3d 1299, 1300 (10th Cir. 1998). Thus, a knowing and voluntary waver of §
2255 rights in a plea agreement is generdly enforceable.  United States v. Cockerham, 237 F.3d
1179, 1181 (10th Cir. 2001). The Tenth Circuit has adopted a three-pronged andysis for
evduating the enforcegbility of such a waver in which the court must determine (1) whether the

disputed isue fdls within the scope of the waver, (2) whether the defendant knowingly and




voluntarily walved his rights, and (3) whether enforcing the waiver would result in a miscarriage
of justice. See United Sates v. Hahn, 359 F.3d 1315, 1325 (10th Cir. 2004) (en banc) (per

curiam).

A Scope of the Waiver

In determining whether the disputed issue fdls within the scope of the waver, the court
begins with the plain language of the plea agreement. United States v. Anderson, 374 F.3d 955,
957 (10th Cir. 2004); Hahn, 359 F.3d a 1328. The plea agreement is construed “according to
contract principles and what the defendant reasonably understood when he entered his plea”
Arevalo-Jimenez, 372 F.3d a 1206 (internd quotation and citations omitted). The court drictly
congtrues the waver and resolves any ambiguities againgt the government and in favor of the
defendant. Hahn, 359 F.3d at 1343.

The provison in the plea agreement by which Mr. Herrera waived his right to challenge his
sentence through collaterd attack states asfollows.

Defendant knowingly and voluntarily waives any right to apped or collaterdly attack
any matter in connection with this prosecution, conviction and sentence.  The
defendant is aware that Title 18, U.S.C. § 3742 &ffords a defendant the right to
appea the conviction and sentence imposed. By entering into this agreement, the
defendant knowingly waives any right to appeal the conviction and sentence imposed
which is within the guideline range determined appropriate by the court. The
defendant dso waves any right to chdlenge a sentence or manner in which it was
determined in any collaterd attack, induding, but not limited to, a motion brought
under Title 28, U.S.C. § 2255 [except as limited by United States v. Cockerham,
237 F.3d 1179, 1187 (10th Cir. 2001)]. In other words, the defendant waives the
right to appea the sentence imposed in this case except to the extent, if any, the
court departs upwards from the applicable sentencing guideline range determined
by the court.




The plea agreement is condrued “according to contract principles and what the defendant
reasonably understood when he entered his plea” Arevalo-Jimenez, 372 F.3d at 1206 (interna
quotation and dtations omitted). The court strictly construes the waiver and resolves any
ambiguities agang the govenment and in favor of the defendant. Hahn, 359 F.3d at 1343.
Bearing these principles in mind, the issues raised in Mr. Herreras 8§ 2255 petition clearly fdl
within the scope of his waiver and he does not contend otherwise. See, e.g., United States v.
Bradley, 400 F.3d 459, 465 (6th Cir. 2005) (rgecting defendant's argument that waiver in plea
agreement was unenforcesble on the bads of changes in the law, including Supreme Court’s
decision in Booker, after the bargan was struck) (and cases cited therein); United States v.
Rubbo, 396 F.3d 1330, 1335 (11th Cir. 2005) (right to apped a sentence based on Booker
grounds can be waved in a plea agreement even if Booker had not been decided at the time of the

plea; broad waiver language covers those grounds of appedl).

B. Knowing and Voluntary
Mr. Herrera does not contend that his waiver was not knowing and voluntary.! Nonetheless,

in an abundance of caution, the court briefly analyzes this aspect of the waiver. In determining that

To the extent Mr. Herrera argues that his waiver was not “knowing” because he received
ineffective assstance of counsel in connection with the plea agreement, the court addresses
this argument in section |.C.




Mr. Herrera’'s waver was knowing and vountary, the court looks no further than the language of
the plea agreement and the court’'s Rule 11 colloquy with Mr. Herrera  See United States v.
Hahn, 359 F.3d 1315, 1325 (10th Cir. 2004). Paragraph 16 of Mr. Herrera's plea agreement
expresdy dates that the pleawas knowing and voluntary:
The defendant has had suffident time to discuss this case, the evidence, and this
agreement with the defendant’'s attorney and defendant is fully stidfied with the
advice and representation provided by defendant’'s counsd. Further, the defendant
acknowledges that he has read the plea agreement, understands it and agrees it is
true and accurate and not the result of any threats, duress or coercion. The
defendant further understands that this plea agreement supersedes any and dl other
agreements or negotiations between the parties, and that this agreement embodies
each and every tem of the agreement between the parties. The defendant
acknowledges that the defendant is entering into this agreement and is pleading
guilty because the defendant is guilty and is doing so fredly and voluntarily.
Expresdy sated in the plea agreement was the waiver where Mr. Herrera agreed to “knowingly
walve]] any right to appea the . . . sentence imposed which is within the guiddine range determined
appropriate by the court.” In addition, the court, during its Rule 11 colloquy with Mr. Herrera,
discussed in detal the fact that Mr. Herrera had waived his right to gpped or otherwise chalenge
his sentence through a 8 2255 motion. The court’s discusson with Mr. Herrera clearly reveded

that Mr. Herrera understood the nature of his waiver and voluntarily accepted it with knowledge

of the consequences of the waiver.

C. Miscarriage of Justice
In his motion, Mr. Herrera contends that enforcing the walver would result in a miscarriage

of justice. Enforcing a waver results in a miscariage of justice only if (1) the district court rdied




on an impemissble factor such as race, (2) the defendant received ineffective assistance of
counsd in conjunction with the negotiation of the waver, (3) the sentence exceeds the statutory
maximum, or (4) the waver is otherwise unlawful in the sense that it suffers from error that
srioudy affects the farness, integrity, or public reputation of judicid proceedings. Hahn, 359
F.3d a 1327. According to Mr. Herera, he recaved ineffective assstance of counsd in
connection with the negotiation of the plea agreement because his counsd failed to advise him
that, for sentencing purposes, the court could attribute to Mr. Herrera additiond drug quantities
beyond the quantity to which he pled guilty and tha his counse faled to advise him that he had the
right to have a jury determine these drug quantities. He further contends that his sentence exceeds
the gatutory maximum.

The court begins with (and summarily regects) Mr. Hererads argument that his sentence
exceeds the statutory maximum. Mr. Herrera pled guilty to a conspiracy to distribute 500 grams
or more of a mixture or substance contaning methamphetamine in violation of 21 U.S.C. § 846.
Pursuant to 21 U.S.C. 8§ 841(b)(1)(A)(viii), Mr. Herrera thus faced a sentence as severe as life
imprisonment.  Indeed, the first page of Mr. Herrera's plea agreement expresdy advises that the
maximum sentence which may be imposed is “not less than 10 years and not more than life
imprisonment.”  Moreover, the court, during its Rule 11 colloquy with Mr. Herrera, expressy
asked Mr. Herrera whether he understood that the maximum sentence he could receive was life
imprisonment and Mr. Herera responded that he did understand the datutory maximum.

Ultimady, Mr. Herrera was sentenced to 168 months imprisonment—obvioudy wel below the




gatutory maximum.?

The court turns, then, to Mr. Hereds ineffective assstance clam. The congtitutional
rnght to effective assstance of counsd is defined in Srickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668
(1984). To obtain habeas relief, a petitioner must establish both that his attorney’s representation
was deficient, measured against an objective standard of reasonableness, and that there is a
reasonable probability that but for counsd’s deficient performance, the result of the proceeding
would have been different. See id. at 687, 688, 694. With respect to Mr. Herrera's argument that
his counsel faled to advise him that he had the right to have a jury determine the quantities of
drugs for which Mr. Herrera could be hdd responsble, he cannot show that hs counsd’s
performance was deficient because, in fact, he had no right to have a jury determine the relevant
drug quantities as his sentence did not exceed the datutory maximum. This argument, then, is
rgected. See Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 490 (2000) (“[A]ny fact that increases the
pendty for a caime beyond the prescribed statutory maximum mus be submitted to a jury, and
proved beyond a reasonable doubt.”); accord United States v. Quary, 2003 WL 256900, at *1
(20th Cir. Feb. 6, 2003) (where statutory maximum was life sentence and defendant recelved life
sentence, factors enhancing sentence did not need to be submitted to ajury under Apprendi).

Mr. Herrera dso contends that he received ineffective assstance of counsdl in connection

with the plea agreement because he essentially believed that he would be sentenced to the statutory

2To the extent that Mr. Herrera means to argue that his sentence was above the
gpplicable guiddine range, this argument aso lacks merit, as the gpplicable guideine range was
168 to 210 months.




minmum of 10 years based on the fact that he pled guilty to conspiring to distribute 500 grams
or more of methamphetamine when, in fact, the guiddine range after the court attributed additional
drug quantities to Mr. Herrera was 168 to 210 months. According to Mr. Herrera, if his counsel
had advised him tha the court would attribute additiond drug quantities to Mr. Herrera and that
those quantities would increese his sentence, he never would have pled guilty. This argument is
rgected. During the court’'s Rule 11 colloquy with Mr. Herrera, the court asked Mr. Herrera
whether he understood that the applicable guiddine range could not be determined urtil after the
presentence invedtigation, that the presentence investigation would not take place until after Mr.
Herrerd's plea of guilty had been entered, and that there was no limitation on the information tha
the court could consder a the time of sentencing, including information relevant to counts or
charges to which Mr. Herrera did not plead guilty. Mr. Herrera answered these questions in the
dfirmative.  Thus, it is clear that Mr. Herera was aware of the contingencies involved in
determining his sentence and nevertheess entered into a guilty plea. Moreover, Mr. Herrera does
not suggest that his counsd in any way assured him that his sentence would be no more than 10
years or otherwise mignformed or improperly counsded hm as to the potential sentence he
might recaeive. Rather, Mr. Herrera states that he smply “assumed” he would be sentenced to the
statutory minmum based on the facts to which he pled guilty. For the foregoing reasons, the court
concludes that there is no merit in Mr. Herrerals clam of ineffective assstance of counsd in the

plea negotiation process.

[. Mr. Herrera’s § 2255 Motion Failson the Merits




Because the court is enforcing Mr. Herrerd's plea agreement and accompanying waver of
rights, the court need not address the merits of Mr. Herrera's § 2255 mation. However, even if
the issues raised by Mr. Herera in his 8 2255 motion fal outsde the scope of his waiver or his
waver is otherwise unenforcesble, his motion nonethdless fals on the merits. Because Booker
announced a new rule of crimina procedure, it applies retroactively only to cases pending on
direct review or cases that are not yet find. See United Sates v. Leonard, 2005 WL 139183, at
*2 (10th Cir. Jan. 24, 2005); United States v. Price, 400 F.3d 844 (10th Cir. 2005). Mr.
Herrera's case is not pending on direct review and his case was find prior to the Supreme Court’'s
decison in Booker. Thus, Booker does not goply retroactivdly to Mr. Herrera's 8§ 2255 petition

and it has no bearing on Mr. Herrera s sentence.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COURT tha the government's motion to
enforce Mr. Herrerd's plea agreement (doc. 39) is granted. Mr. Herrera's motion to vacate, set

aside or correct his sentence (doc. 35) isdenied.

IT 1SSO ORDERED this 7" day of April, 2005.

g John W. Lungstrum
John W. Lungstrum
United States Digtrict Judge




